Clerk of the Court
Received 11/18/2024 12:46 PM
Resubmitted 11/18/2024 02:34 PM
Filed 11/18/2024 02:34 PM

Appeal Nos. 24-CO-295 & 24-CO-296

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

MUHAYMIN MUHAMMAD

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia
Criminal Division

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

JACLYN FRANKFURT
MIKEL-MEREDITH WEIDMAN
*AREEBA JIBRIL

PUBLIC DEFENDER SERVICE
633 3rd Street, NW
Washington, DC 20001
Telephone: (202) 628-1200

*Counsel for Oral Argument

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether the trial court erred in finding current dangerousness and denying Mr. Muhammad's request for release under the Incarceration Reduction Amendment Act ("IRAA"), D.C. Code § 24-403.03, based on Mr. Muhammad's failure to complete sex offender treatment that was unavailable to him and a 2016 infraction for submitting administrative grievances after being instructed not to do so.
2. Whether the trial court erred in denying Mr. Muhammad's request for release under IRAA, D.C. Code § 24-403.03, when it relied on factors set out in the D.C. voluntary sentencing guidelines, including the nature and seriousness of the underlying offense and principles of deterrence and just punishment, when evaluating whether it was in the interests of justice to grant his IRAA motion.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND JURISDICTION

On June 7, 1984, Muhaymin Muhammad pled guilty in two separate cases that have been consolidated for the purpose of this appeal. In 1982 FEL 007489, Mr. Muhammad was sentenced to 20 years to life for felony murder, 20 years to life for two counts of rape, 5 to 15 years for assault with intent to rape, and 15 years to life for armed robbery. In 1982 FEL 006288, Mr. Muhammad was sentenced to 5 to 15 years for manslaughter. Judge Donald Smith sentenced Mr. Muhammad to an aggregate term of 65 years to life in prison. On July 7, 2023, Mr. Muhammad filed a motion under the Incarceration Reduction Amendment Act, D.C. Code § 24-403.03 ("IRAA") seeking a sentence reduction that would result in

immediate release. The government filed an opposition on October 31, 2023.

Defense counsel filed its reply brief on November 30, 2023.

Mr. Muhammad's IRAA motion was assigned to the Honorable Craig Iscoe, who held a hearing on the motion on December 19, 2023. In a written order dated March 19, 2024, the trial court denied Mr. Muhammad's request for relief.

Mr. Muhammad timely noted an appeal on March 28, 2024. This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Muhaymin Muhammad was only 18 years old in 1982 when he committed the offenses that led to his guilty plea and an aggregate sentence of 65 years to life for five offenses, including first-degree murder and rape. Now 60 years old, he has spent the entirety of his adult life, 42 years, in prison. Mr. Muhammad moved for release under the Incarceration Reduction Amendment Act (IRAA) on July 7, 2023, arguing that he was no longer dangerous and the interests of justice therefore warranted his release to the community. The government opposed the motion.

The sentencing judge denied the motion, finding Mr. Muhammad was still dangerous, because of his lack of sex offender treatment—even though he had been on a waitlist for the program since 2015—and a 2016 disciplinary infraction for filing multiple grievances against BOP officers which the BOP labeled as “stalking.” Order 24-25.¹ The judge also found that release was not in the interest

¹ The trial court's order denying Mr. Muhammad's IRAA motion is referenced throughout as “Order.”

of justice because “reducing Mr. Muhammad’s sentence so that he only serves 42 years of incarceration would not serve the sentencing goals of punishment and general deterrence” Order 28. This appeal challenges those decisions.

IRAA allows a person who committed an offense before age 25 and who has served 15 years in prison to petition for a sentence reduction, and requires the sentencing court to grant the petition when it finds—based on consideration of eleven enumerated factors—the individual is not dangerous and the interests of justice warrant the reduction. *See* D.C. Code § 24-403.03(a). The statute responds to the wealth of scientific evidence showing that brain development continues until at least age 25, and that developmental immaturity makes young people both less culpable and more capable of rehabilitation.² IRAA also operates to remedy a problem of overincarceration. As the D.C. Council explained, the continued incarceration of rehabilitated, non-dangerous people who have already served lengthy sentences imposes social and economic costs that exceed any potential benefits, and thus is not in the public interest. 2020 Committee Report at 11-12. The Council has repeatedly amended the statute to expand its reach, lowering eligibility thresholds and allowing more people to be released.

On July 7, 2023, Mr. Muhammad filed an IRAA motion [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

² D.C. Council, Comm. on the Judiciary & Pub. Safety, Rep. on Bill 23-0127 at 15-16 (Nov. 23, 2030) (“2020 Committee Report”).

guilty to first degree murder, two counts of rape, and one count of armed robbery relating to the death of [REDACTED]. The government alleged that Mr. Muhammad, and a co-defendant, abducted, raped, and killed [REDACTED] on November 1, 1982. 24-CO-295, R. 108-111. Mr. Muhammad was also indicted for robbery, kidnapping, rape, and other crimes against four other victims that occurred between October 11, 1982 and November 8, 1982. 24-CO-295, R. 92-97. The government dropped those charges in exchange for his guilty plea. Order 2-4.

[REDACTED]
[REDACTED]. In a letter to Judge Iscoe, Mr. Muhammad expressed remorse for his actions and explained that he had taken responsibility for the lasting pain he had caused. Def. Motion 16. [REDACTED]
[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] Long before he had any hope of early release, he took advantage of prison resources, completing 1500 hours of programming. *Id.* at 14, 24. He managed this despite BOP policies deprioritizing D.C. prisoners and those serving life sentences for programming.

The motion asserted that despite the violence and particular hardships of his incarceration, Mr. Muhammad had maintained a laudable disciplinary record, leading BOP to determine that he presented a “minimum” risk of recidivism—the lowest possible score under the BOP’s own risk assessment tool. The Prisoner Assessment Tool Targeting Estimated Risk and Needs (PATTERN) is a tool developed by the Department of Justice “to predict the likelihood of general and

violent recidivism.”³ DOJ touts PATTERN as a tool that “achieves a higher level of predictability [that] surpasses what is commonly found for risk assessment tools for correctional populations in the U.S.”⁴ PATTERN takes into account a variety of factors, including disciplinary history and programming, and measures the risk of any return to BOP custody or rearrest, including for non-violent crimes and technical violations of parole.⁵ A recent Department of Justice study of 9,332 releases like Mr. Muhammad, with an overall “minimum” PATTERN score, found that only 3.2% were re-arrested for any reason.⁶ Additionally, the motion contended that Mr. Muhammad’s BOP custody classification score, which also took into account disciplinary history, confirmed the government’s view of his low security risk, as it classified Mr. Muhammad as eligible for “community” placement—“[t]he lowest custody level assigned to an inmate which affords the lowest level of security and staff supervision.”⁷

³ Press Release, U.S. Dep’t of Just., *Department of Justice Announces the Release of 3,100 Inmates Under First Step Act, Publishes Risk and Needs Assessment System* (July 19, 2019), <https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/departments-justice-announces-release-3100-inmates-under-first-step-act-publishes-risk-and>.

⁴ *Id.*

⁵ *Id.*; U.S. Dep’t of Just., Off. of the Att’y Gen., *First Step Act Annual Report* 40 (Apr. 2023), <https://www.ojp.gov/first-step-act-annual-report-april-2023>.

⁶ Off. of the Att’y Gen., *First Step Act Section Annual Report* 42.

⁷ U.S. Dep’t of Just., Bureau of Prisons, *Program Statement P5100.08, Inmate Security Designation & Custody Classification* Ch. 2 (Sept. 12, 2006), https://www.bop.gov/policy/progstat/5100_008.pdf.

Mr. Muhammad’s “minimum” PATTERN score and eligibility for “community” placement reflected his overall disciplinary record, the motion argued. He had never incurred a 100-level infraction,⁸ even when housed at facilities with notoriously violent environments and physically attacked. Def. Motion 18, 20. BOP had entrusted him with coveted work placements, like UNICOR, only available to “model inmates.” *Id.* at 28. And Counselor Jones of USP Coleman I, where Mr. Muhammad was incarcerated for years, remembered Mr. Muhammad as “not a problem” on his unit. He noted that Mr. Muhammad would “file a lot” of administrative grievances “for himself or other inmates” because “he wanted everyone to be treated a certain way.” *Id.* at 22.

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

⁸ The level of the offense refers to its severity; offenses range from the 100 level, the most severe, to the 400 level, the least severe. *See* 28 C.F.R. § 541.3.

Finally, the motion summarized Mr. Muhammad’s comprehensive reentry plan, which included his plans for accessing housing, employment, medical and psychological care, and peer and community support. Def. Motion. 43-47.

On October 31, 2023, the government filed its opposition to Mr. Muhammad’s motion, arguing that the trial court should deny relief because Mr. Muhammad remained a danger to the community and the interests of justice did not support release. Gov. Opp. 1. The government argued he was still dangerous for two reasons: lack of sex offender treatment and a 2016 disciplinary incident.

Although the government faulted Mr. Muhammad for not having completed enough programming generally, it specifically targeted his lack of sex offender treatment. Gov. Opp. 12. It noted that Mr. Muhammad had joined the waitlist for sex offender treatment in December of 2015, and then stated—without any factual support—that it was “not credible . . . to assume that defendant ha[d] been waiting eight years for th[at] programming.” *Id.* at 12-13. Based on the unsupported premise that Mr. Muhammad could not have been on the waitlist for eight years, it asserted that his failure to show “sincere attempts to engage in this critical treatment” weighed “heavily against release.” *Id.* at 13.

As to his disciplinary history, the government argued that, in general, the 27 infractions Mr. Muhammad had incurred up until 2016 represented a “pattern” of noncompliance with institutional rules. Gov. Opp. 10. It specifically pointed to an infraction that Mr. Muhammad received in 2016, for filing five BP-229 administrative grievance forms against a BOP cook after previously being told to stop emailing a different BOP employee. Order 12. According to the disciplinary

report, shortly after Mr. Muhammad arrived at USP Yazoo City in 2016, he received “verbal counseling” after he emailed complaints to the Reentry Affairs Coordinator. The BOP described these emails as “inappropriate” because they addressed the recipient as “Dear Beloved” and told her “how she needed to do her job.” *Id.* Mr. Muhammad also complained about the reentry coordinator’s response to another BOP staff member, saying “I have two life sentences, I don’t give a damn about slapping an officer or what’s going to happen to me.” *Id.* He did not receive an infraction for the emails, but was warned that if he continued this “harassing behavior” he would be written up.

Several months later, Mr. Muhammad filed five BP-229 grievance forms against a Cook Supervisor, leveling a range of complaints against her, including poor food preparation, lying, and stealing, and calling her two offensive names. The report writer stated the complaints “caused [her] to feel as if she was being harassed,” and that she was “very upset” about them and felt “her safety would be in danger” if Mr. Muhammad were released to the general prison population. Citing the prior verbal warning regarding the emails to the reentry coordinator, BOP staff gave Mr. Muhammad a 200-level infraction for “Stalking Another Person Through Repeated Behavior Which Harasses, Alarms, or Annoys the Person After Having Been Previously Warned to Stop Such Conduct” based on “continued actions of harassing and threatening.” Gov. Opp. 10-11. Though the conduct was not sexual in nature, the government argued that it demonstrated “a repeated pattern of targeting female staff members in BOP” which the government analogized to his underlying convictions. *Id.* at 11-12.

In the reply brief, the defense contended that Mr. Muhammad’s overall record, as well as his minimum PATTERN score and Dr. Keller’s expert report, established his rehabilitation, and that neither the lack of sex offender treatment nor the 2016 infraction indicated current dangerousness. Mr. Muhammad had not been able to complete sex offender treatment, the reply explained, because BOP deprioritized him for programs because he was serving a life sentence and was a D.C. inmate, Reply 14,⁹ and not, as the government erroneously asserted, because of a lack of “sincere attempts to engage.” Gov. Opp. 13.

As to the 2016 incident, the reply explained that despite the use of the term “stalking” in the title of the offense, the BOP infraction encompassed a broad range of conduct including “mere annoyance of a person.” Reply 10-11. Mr. Muhammad’s infraction stemmed from a series of complaints he had filed through allowable channels that staff considered to be “harassment.” *Id.* at 11.¹⁰ The reply cited Dr. Keller’s expert report, which accounted for his overall disciplinary history when concluding that “Mr. Muhammad did not endorse overt or covert hostility or a disregard toward women.” Reply 11. Finally, defense counsel pointed out that since the disciplinary incident, Mr. Muhammad had held jobs that required continued trust by staff and experienced positive relationships with staff. *Id.*

⁹ Amicus Br. at 7, *Blades v. Garland*, No. 1:22-cv-00279-ABJ (D.D.C. Apr. 11, 2022) (quoting D.C. Corrs. Info. Council, *FCI McDowell Inspection Report* 10 (Oct. 17, 2019)).

¹⁰ Citing the DHO report about the incident, counsel also noted that the stigma associated with Mr. Muhammad’s crimes of conviction had played a significant role in how the investigation was conducted. Reply 11.

At the hearing on the IRAA motion, counsel for both parties presented oral argument, but neither party presented live testimony. The government did not object to the written reports—including Dr. Keller’s—that had been submitted to the trial court. And neither the judge nor the government requested live testimony from any witnesses at the hearing.

The government acknowledged that “this is a close case in many ways,” given the 42 years Mr. Muhammad had served and his disciplinary and programming records. Tr. 24. Nonetheless, as in its written opposition, it opposed relief “largely” on “two core areas”—the infraction from 2016 and the lack of sex offender treatment. Tr. 29. Regarding the 2016 incident, the government conceded the titling of the offense did not necessarily reflect the conduct at issue—noting that “stalking might mean one thing in the general public as it means something separate in BOP.” Tr. 27. Nonetheless, the trial court itself drew a connection to the offenses of conviction, expressing concern about infractions related to “stalking, sexual proposals, and . . . threatening bodily harm,” which it believed “relate[d] in many ways to the offenses.” Tr. 26, 30.

Defense counsel directed the court’s attention to the facts underlying the 2016 infraction, explaining that it arose from administrative complaints he had filed against two staff members, and arguing that the BOP used “stalking” as a catch-all term to include behavior which “harasses, alarms, or annoys” the staff member. Tr. 45-46. Defense also contended the record did not suggest these infractions were sexual in nature, Tr. 42, and explained that Mr. Muhammad often used BOP administrative procedures to “try and take control over his situation and

over his environment in the BOP.” Tr. 33.¹¹ Staff had explained that “he did file grievances but he wasn’t a problem on the unit, he was actually someone that we turned to to help resolve conflicts,” and multiple wardens had cited “his good conduct, his ability to work with both his peers and staff.” Tr. 41-42. Finally, he was not heavily disciplined for the infraction, Tr. 33, indicating BOP did not consider it to be very serious, and his PATTERN score and Dr. Keller’s unrebutted report showed that he was not a danger. Tr. 36.

The government also reiterated that Mr. Muhammad’s programming record was deficient because he had not completed sex offender treatment, suggesting to a lesser extent that he had not completed enough programming in general. Tr. 28. It agreed that he “was on a waitlist” for sex offender treatment in December of 2015, and that D.C. Code inmates and people serving life sentences might have less access to programming, but said it was “not clear . . . what played out” or whether he “was removed from the waitlist or otherwise received treatment.” Tr. 28.

Defense counsel rebutted the government’s suggestion that Mr. Muhammad could have completed sex offender treatment, explaining that he “put himself on [the] waitlist [in 2015] and he has remained on that waitlist,” and that he “has no control over when he accesses or doesn’t access that programming.” Tr. 39. Counsel also contended that there was “no evidence on this record that Mr. Muhammad has ever refused to do sex offender treatment,” and pointed out that

¹¹ Defense counsel also suggested the stigma associated with Mr. Muhammad’s underlying convictions played a part in “how this was ultimately viewed and assessed by the BOP.” Tr. 33.

the individualized needs plan BOP had prepared for him, which set out short- and long-term programming goals, did not mention a need for sex offender treatment at all. *Id.* at 38-39. Defense counsel further cited Dr. Keller’s expert assessment that Mr. Muhammad “does not need that sex offender treatment,” and represented that even so, Mr. Muhammad was “fully willing to engage in that programming” after release, should a reevaluation by CSOSA “deem it appropriate.” Tr. 39-40.

After hearing argument from counsel, the judge said that “Mr. Muhammad is free to make a statement if he wishes but does not have to.” Tr. 40-41. The judge offered Mr. Muhammad an additional opportunity to speak before the end of the hearing, but assured him that his “[f]ailure to say anything will not be held against [him].” Tr. 47. Defense counsel explained that Mr. Muhammad was nervous to testify in court and that he turned to “his written word as the best way to express himself.” Tr. 48. The judge assured him that he understood, saying “I certainly also understand nervousness in speaking in a setting such as this in a courtroom, it may be difficult for people to do.” Tr. 48.

The trial court denied Mr. Muhammad’s IRAA petition in a written order on March 19, 2024, ruling that Mr. Muhammad had failed to demonstrate that he was no longer dangerous and that the interests of justice warranted a reduction of sentence. Order 10. The court’s dangerousness ruling primarily relied on the lack of sex offender treatment and the 2016 BOP infraction for “stalking.” Its interests-of-justice analysis drew on principles drawn from the voluntary sentencing guidelines and concluded that the 42 years Mr. Muhammad had served did not satisfy goals of “just punishment” or general deterrence.

The judge made findings regarding each of the eleven factors enumerated in the IRAA statute. He noted that Mr. Muhammad was 18 years old at the time of the offense, citing (c)(1). As to (c)(2), the judge noted that he had had a “difficult childhood marked by the trauma of physical and verbal abuse,” and “did not have any criminal history prior to committing the six separate offenses.” Order 11. Both factors weighed in favor of release.

In reviewing (c)(3), which relates to disciplinary and programming history while incarcerated, the judge found that Mr. Muhammad “remains a danger to the community due to his 2016 infraction for stalking two women and his lack of sex offender treatment” finding he had “demonstrated slight compliance with the rules” of various facilities. Order 15. Although he credited Mr. Muhammad for never receiving a single 100-level infraction and for not incurring any infractions since 2017, he found that the “infraction for ‘stalking,’ . . . raises significant concerns, especially in light of Mr. Muhammad’s convictions for two rapes, one attempted rape, one first degree murder, and one armed robbery.” *Id.* The judge acknowledged that the disciplinary report “establishes that the charge of ‘Stalking’ may include ‘repeated behavior which harasses, alarms, or annoys the person, after having been previously warned to stop such conduct,’” but concluded the subject of Mr. Muhammad’s complaints felt he presented “an actual physical danger to her.” *Id.* at 13.

As to Mr. Muhammad’s programming record, the judge found he had shown “some meaningful completion of significant amounts of programming,” Order 15, and acknowledged that he had “undergone extensive job training programs . . . and

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