BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
COURT OF APPEALS

Nos. 24-CO-295 & 24-CO-296

WILLIAM DAVIDSON,
A.K.A. MUHAYMIN MUHAMMAD

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Muhammad's motion for IRAA relief. The court meticulously reviewed each of the requisite factors as required by D.C. Code § 24-403.03(c). Contrary to Muhammad's claim, the court did not err in finding that Muhammad remained dangerous because he failed to substantially comply with prison rules and failed to complete sex-offender treatment.

The court did not err in considering the D.C. Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines when determining whether the interests of justice supported release. The statute expressly permits the trial court to consider "[a]ny other information the court deems relevant to its decision." D.C. Code Ann. § 24-403.03(c)(11). By looking to the Voluntary Guidelines to examine whether Muhammad's sentence would comport with now-prevailing norms for these crimes, the trial court commendably sought objective indicia to guide its analysis.

Finally, nothing in the order suggests that the court did not apply the preponderance-of-the-evidence standard in evaluating Muhammad's claims.

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Denying Muhammad's IRAA Motion.

Muhammad argues that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied his IRAA motion because: (1) it erred in finding that the lack of sex offender treatment

contributed to a dangerousness finding (Br. at 29-36); (2) it erred in inferring dangerousness from a 2016 stalking infraction (Br. at 36-41); (3) it erred in relying on the current D.C. Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines in assessing whether the interests of justice supported release (Br. at 49-56); and (4) it improperly elevated Muhammad’s burden of proof (Br. at 41-49). Muhammad’s claims are meritless.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

The IRAA “establishe[d] a sentence review procedure intended to . . . ensur[e] that all juvenile offenders serving lengthy prison terms have a realistic, meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on their diminished culpability and their maturation and rehabilitation.” *Williams v. United States*, 205 A.3d 837, 846 (D.C. 2019). The defendant bears the burden to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that he is “not a danger to the safety of any person or the community and that the interests of justice warrant a sentence modification.” D.C. Code § 24-403.03(a)(2); *Welch v. United States*, 319 A.3d 971, 977 (D.C. 2024).

“The [trial] judge is obligated to accord the prisoner a fair hearing and to make findings and conclusions supported by the record with respect to the pertinent factors enumerated in the IRAA.” *Williams*, 205 A.3d at 854. To be eligible for a sentence reduction under the IRAA, the defendant must have: (1) committed his crime before his 25th birthday; (2) been sentenced pursuant to D.C. Code §§ 24-403 or 24-403.01

(i.e., received either an indeterminate or a term-of-years sentence, respectively), or been “committed” pursuant to D.C. Code § 24-903 (i.e., received a Youth Rehabilitation Act sentence); and (3) served at least 15 years in prison. D.C. Code § 24-403.03(a), (b). If the defendant meets those threshold requirements, the trial court “shall” reduce the “term of imprisonment imposed” if the court also determines, after considering the factors in subsection (c), “that the defendant is not a danger to the safety of any person or the community and that the interests of justice warrant a sentence modification.” D.C. Code § 24-403.03(a), (a)(2).

Under subsection (c) of the IRAA, the trial court must consider:

- (1) The defendant’s age at the time of the offenses;
- (2) The history and characteristics of the defendant;
- (3) Whether the defendant has substantially complied with the rules of the institution to which the defendant has been confined, and whether the defendant has completed any educational, vocational, or other program, where available;
- (4) Any report or recommendation received from the United States Attorney;
- (5) Whether the defendant has demonstrated maturity, rehabilitation, and a fitness to reenter society sufficient to justify a sentence reduction;
- (6) Any statement, provided orally or in writing, provided pursuant to [D.C. Code] § 23-1904 or 18 U.S.C. § 3771 by a victim of the offense for which the defendant is imprisoned, or by a family member of the victim if the victim is deceased;
- (7) Any reports of physical, mental, or psychiatric examinations of the defendant conducted by licensed health care professionals;

(8) The defendant’s family and community circumstances at the time of the offense, including any history of abuse, trauma, or involvement in the child welfare system;

(9) The extent of the defendant’s role in the offense and whether and to what extent another person was involved in the offense;

(10) The diminished culpability of juveniles and persons under age 25, as compared to that of older adults, and the hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences, which counsel against sentencing them to lengthy terms in prison, despite the brutality or cold-blooded nature of any particular crimes, and the defendant’s personal circumstances that support an aging out of crime; and

(11) Any other information the court deems relevant to its decision.

D.C. Code § 24-403.03(c). The trial court is afforded discretion in deciding how to balance these factors; they do not have “preordained weights assigned to them.” *Williams*, 205 A.3d at 854.

This Court reviews a trial court’s IRAA ruling for abuse of discretion. *Williams*, 205 A.3d at 848. In reviewing for abuse of discretion, the Court “must determine whether the decision maker failed to consider a relevant factor, whether [the decision maker] relied upon an improper factor, and whether the reasons given reasonably support the conclusion.” *Bishop v. United States*, 310 A.3d 629, 641 (D.C. 2024) (quoting *Crater v. Oliver*, 201 A.3d 582, 584 (D.C. 2019) (internal quotation marks omitted)). This Court’s “role in reviewing the exercise of discretion is supervisory in nature and deferential in attitude.” *Bishop*, 310 A.3d at 641 (quoting *In re Z.W.*, 214 A.3d 1023, 1037 (D.C. 2019) (internal quotation marks omitted)).

B. Muhammad Fails to Show an Abuse of Discretion.

The trial court conducted a thorough review of the evidence, methodically evaluated each of the IRAA factors, and considered the parties' arguments before reaching its decision. Because the court engaged in a reasoned analysis based on a firm factual foundation in determining that Muhammad did not meet his burden on dangerousness or the interests of justice, the court did not abuse its discretion in denying the IRAA motion.

First, Muhammad claims (Br. at 24-30) that the trial court erred in finding current dangerousness based on his failure to obtain sex-offender treatment over his 41 years of incarceration because there was no evidence in the record that such treatment was available to him. Muhammad asserts that he has been on the waitlist for such treatment since 2015, BOP's most recent individualized treatment plan did not recommend such treatment, and Dr. Keller concluded it was not necessary (Br. at 31). Muhammad goes so far as to claim that there was no "factual foundation" to suggest that such treatment would be relevant to his rehabilitation.

The trial court reasonably rejected Muhammad's claim. The court found sufficient factual support in Muhammad's convictions for two counts of rape, one count of assault with intent to rape, and one count of first-degree murder where the victim was found partially naked with semen in her vagina (A. at 181-83). Muhammad's 2016 infraction for "stalking," which occurred when he was 52 years

old and 34 years into his incarceration, underscored his on-going need for sex-offender treatment (*id.* at 179, 183-84). This record provides ample evidence for the trial court to conclude that sex-offender treatment was warranted, notwithstanding Dr. Keller's or the BOP's assessments otherwise.

The trial court acknowledged that Muhammad has been waitlisted for sex-offender treatment since 2015 but noted that Muhammad failed to establish the program was unavailable to him before 2015 (A. at 182). *See Williams*, 205 A.3d. at 850 (IRAA movant bears the burden of proof). Muhammad argues that his pre-2015 state of mind concerning whether he needed sex-offender treatment is “not relevant” (Br. at 25). However, it was Muhammad who proffered the entirety of his programming record (>1,500 hours) as evidence of his rehabilitation. More importantly, the IRAA requires judges to assess whether releasing a defendant would endanger the community. If the judge reasonably concludes that a defendant needs sex-offender treatment, it is reasonable to deny the defendant's motion for release until that treatment occurs. The inability of the prison to provide these services (or the length of the waitlist) does not override the court's responsibility under IRAA to protect the community.

Next, Muhammad argues (Br. at 30-35), that the trial court improperly used the shorthand of the offense “Stalking” to equate his administrative complaints with his underlying offenses. The “stalking” shorthand comes from the title of Code 225

(Sealed R. at 156) and the trial court repeatedly used quotation marks around the word to identify the use of the shorthand (A. at 175, 180-81, 183, 192), as did Muhammad (Br. at 33). In any event, the trial court did not rely solely on the title of the offense that was assigned by prison authorities and instead identified the specific nature of Muhammad's conduct that gave rise to its "significant concerns" (A. at 179). Specifically, the court noted that the conduct began shortly after he arrived at USP Yazoo City, and continued months later against a different female employee, despite a verbal warning that Muhammad would incur an infraction if he repeated the behavior (*id.* at 180). After the initial offense, Muhammad demonstrated his lack of maturity, rehabilitation, and conformance to prison rules by stating, "I have two life sentences, I don't give a damn about slapping an officer or what's going to happen to me" (*id.*). Muhammad again engaged in similar conduct against a second female employee, by describing her as "Lucifer," "Fat Rat," and the "House Negro," and by accusing her of theft, lying, and not preparing meals properly (*id.*). The trial court then noted the similarities between this targeted and repeated harassment towards female BOP employees with Muhammad's repeated and targeted attacks on women driving alone in D.C. more than 40 years ago (*id.* at 193).

Considering Muhammad's lack of sex-offender programming, his convictions for multiple rapes and violent offenses, and his more recent conduct in prison, the court concluded that the lack of sex-offender programming contributed to

Muhammad’s continued dangerousness (A. at 182). Had Muhammad completed this programming, he no doubt would have pointed to it as evidence to support his rehabilitation and, in turn, diminished risk of dangerousness. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by viewing Muhammad’s 2016 infraction as evidence of the need for sex-offender treatment. *See Anderson v. Bessemer City*, 470 U.S. 564, 574 (1985) (“Where there are two permissible views of the evidence, the fact[-]finder’s choice between them cannot be clearly erroneous.”).

Finally, Muhammad claims (Br. at 49-56) that the trial court improperly used the current D.C. Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines as one factor in determining whether the interests of justice weigh in favor of release. Under D.C. Code § 24-403.03(c)(11), the court was permitted to consider “any other information the court deem[ed] relevant to its decision.” *See Coleman v. United States*, 202 A.3d 1127, 1138 (D.C. 2019) (if statute’s language is plain, courts generally look no further). Muhammad’s claim (at 28) that the trial court cannot consider “authorities outside of the IRAA” ignores the existence of the catch-all provision permitting judges to consider any other information it deems relevant. D.C. Code § 24-403.03(c)(11). Nor can Muhammad show that current sentencing standards are an irrelevant consideration. The IRAA itself rests on the notion that courts should reexamine sentences imposed long ago through the lens of current, presumably more informed, practices. By looking at the Voluntary Sentencing Guidelines adopted in the District

to reflect more recent practices and scientific knowledge, the trial judge appropriately exercised its discretion.⁵

C. The Trial Court Applied the Correct Legal Standards in Evaluating Muhammad’s Proffered Evidence.

Muhammad argues (Br. at 41-49) that the trial court improperly elevated Muhammad’s burden of proof by applying a heightened evidentiary standard, discounting his expert’s opinion, and discrediting his written statement. Each of Muhammad’s claims fail.

First, there is no evidence that the trial court applied anything but a preponderance standard. Muhammad relies on *Welch v. United States*, 319 A.3d 971 (D.C. 2024), in arguing that this Court has not clearly established the IRAA court’s standard of review (Br. at 42). Contrary to Muhammad’s claims, there is no controversy over which standard applies. *See Welch*, 319 A.3d at 911 (both parties agree preponderance standard applies); *Bailey v. United States*, 251 A.3d 724, 729 (D.C. 2021) (“preponderance standard is the ‘default rule’”). While it is true that the trial court here did not specify the standard of review applied, this Court “presume[s]

⁵ Because the court had already determined that Muhammad had not met his burden regarding dangerousness, any error in examining whether the interests of justice warrant release was harmless. *See Kotteakos v. United States*, 328 U.S. 750, 765 (1946) (non-constitutional error is harmless if “the judgment was not substantially swayed by the error”).

that the trial judge knew the proper standard of proof to apply and did in fact apply it.” *Welch*, 319 A.3d at 977.

Muhammad attempts to elevate the trial court’s commentary concerning one of many pieces of evidence, the PATTERN assessment, to argue that the court elevated his burden of proof. At the evidentiary hearing, the court made clear that it viewed the PATTERN score as having limited utility because “one side or the other is always citing to the PATTERN score and the other side not” (A. at 147). The trial court further recognized that the PATTERN score could not “guarantee [] how Mr. Muhammad will behave outside of prison” (A. at 185). Although Muhammad complains about the trial court’s choice of words (“guarantee”), this Court has made essentially the same point in other cases. *Cf. United States v. Facon*, 288 A.3d 317, 338 (D.C. 2023) (“facts about Facon’s activities while in the highly regulated environment of prison” ... “did not explain why those activities supported a finding that Facon was rehabilitated and would not endanger others if released from such an environment”). Moreover, the PATTERN score here incorporates BOP’s assessment that sex-offender treatment was not warranted (A. at 125), an assessment with which the trial court disagreed. While perhaps an inartful use of the word “guarantee,” the government’s review of the trial court’s reasoning is simply that the PATTERN score alone (after discrediting Dr. Keller and Muhammad’s letter) did not satisfy the defendant’s burden of establishing a lack of danger.

With respect to Dr. Keller’s letter, the Court noted that because Muhammad chose not to present any testimony, it “did not have the opportunity to inquire of Dr. Keller about how she came to her conclusions that Mr. Muhammad, who was indicted on 45 charges related to the stalking and sexual assaulting of women, and especially who again was accused of stalking two women in 2016, would [not] benefit from [sex offender] treatment” (A. at 183). The court therefore did not abuse its discretion by disagreeing with Dr. Keller’s conclusion on this point. *See Waldman v. Levine*, 544 A.2d 683, 689 (D.C. 1988) (“expert testimony is not binding on the trier of fact, and the trier of fact is given considerable latitude in determining the weight to be given such evidence”) (citation omitted); *Robinson v. United States*, 50 A.3d 508, 523 (D.C. 2012) (“[T]he weight to be given an expert opinion is for the [fact-finder] to decide.”) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Here, Muhammad chose not to call Dr. Keller as a witness, a strategic decision that was his to make, but the court was not required to accept Dr. Keller’s opinion.⁶

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